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GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Jorge Eduardo Castro-Trevino (Castro-Trevino) appeals his
conviction for exporting fromthe United States into Mexico 11, 500
rounds of ammunition in violation of 22 U S.C. 8§ 2778(b)(2) and
(c); 22 CF.R 88 121.1, 123.1(a), and 127.3; and 18 U.S.C. § 2.
Castro-Trevino asserts that his guilty plea was not supported by a
sufficient factual basis because his offending conduct only

anounted to an attenpt to export ammunition, rather than actual



exportation. He asks that his guilty plea be vacated and the
matter remanded so that he may plead anew. W decline to do so,
but nodify the judgnent to reflect conviction for attenpted
exportation only and affirmthe judgnent as so nodified.

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

The facts in this case are undi sputed. As reflected by the
presentence report (PSR), to which appellant’s counsel stated at
sentenci ng he had no objections, on Decenber 15, 2004, speci al
agents fromthe United States Bureau of Imm gration and Custons
Enforcenment (I CE) observed Castro-Trevino, acconpani ed by his
three children, purchase a large quantity of amunition fromthe
WAl - Mart Super Center store in Brownsville, Texas. Later that
day, Castro-Trevino attenpted to return to the Republic of Mexico
via the Gateway International Bridge. Wen |ICE agents inspected
the vehicle, Castro-Trevino denied possession of currency in
excess of $10,000, firearns, or amunition. Castro-Trevino was
then referred to the secondary inspection area, at which tine
Castro-Trevino admtted to possessing ammunition in the vehicle.
Agents then discovered undecl ared, assorted anmmunition hidden in
the car. The PSR described this series of events by stating:
“Castro-Trevino attenpted to export the amrunition through the
Gateway International Bridge but was detained by |ICE agents.”

In total, the agents found thirty boxes, or 11,500 rounds,

of ammunition: twenty boxes of .22 caliber bullets; three boxes



of .357 magnum bul l ets; three boxes of 9 mmbullets; three boxes
of .380 automatic bullets; and one box of .25 automatic bullets.

After being read his Mranda rights, Castro-Trevino admtted
that he had entered the United States from Mexico solely to
purchase the ammunition, and that he knew it was illegal to
export ammunition fromthe United States to Mexico. Castro-
Trevino admtted further that he was hired to purchase the
anmmuni tion and export it but refused to disclose who had hired
him taking full responsibility for his actions. Castro-Trevino
claimed that he was to receive approxinmately $45 for every box of
.22 caliber rounds he successfully exported into Mexico but, as
of that tinme, was not to receive paynent for the other ten boxes
of ammuni tion.

Castro-Trevino then admtted to previously exporting, one
mont h before, a load of ammunition into Mexico fromthe United
States for a paynent of approximately $1,000. Agents
corroborated this statenent by way of a Treasury Enforcenent
Commruni cations System search and a receipt found in Castro-
Trevino’s car for ammunition purchased on that previous date.

On January 11, 2005, the grand jury returned a one-count

i ndi ctment?! charging Castro-Trevino with the offense of know ngly

The indictment reads as foll ows:

“On or about Decenmber 15, 2004, in the Southern District of Texas,
and within the jurisdiction of the Court, Defendant Jorge Eduardo
Castro-Trevino did knowingly and willfully export and cause to be
exported fromthe United States to Mexi co a defense article, that is
11,500 rounds of assorted ammunition which was designated as a
defense article on the United States Miunitions List, w thout having
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and willfully exporting fromthe United States to Mexico

anmuni tion designated as a defense article on the United States

Muni tions List, without first acquiring a license or witten

aut horization fromthe State Departnent, in violation of 22

U.S.C. 8§ 2778(b)(2) and (c);2 22 C.F.R 8§ 121.1,% 123.1(a),* and

127.3;% and 18 U.S.C. § 2.5 1 R 17. On February 18, 2005,

first obtained from the Departnent of State a license for
export or witten authorization for such export.

In violation of Title 22, United States Code, Sections
2778(b) (2) and 2778(c), and Title 22, Code of Federal Regul ations,
Sections 121.1, 123.1(a) and 127.3, and Title 18 United States Code,

Section 2.7

222 U.S.C. 88 2778(b)(2) and (c) read, in pertinent part:

(b)(2) Except as otherwi se specifically provided in regulations .

no defense articles or defense services designated by

Presi dent under subsection (a)(1l) of this section may be exported or
inmported without a license for such export or inport, issued i

accordance with this chapter and regulations issued under
chapter.

(c) Any person who willfully violates any provision of this section
or section 2779 of this title, or any rule or regulation issued
under either section . . . shall upon conviction be fined for each
viol ation not nore than $1, 000,000 or inprisoned not nore than ten

years, or both.

522 CF.R 8§ 121.1 conprises the United States Minitions List,

the itens designated as defense articles and subject to the requirenents

UsSs C § 2778.

422 C.F.R § 123.1(a) provides:

“Any person who intends to export or to inport tenporarily a defense
article nust obtain the approval of the Directorate of Eefense Trade

Controls prior to the export or tenporary inport

22 C.F.R 8§ 127.3 provides, in pertinent part:

“Any person who willfully . . . [v]iolates any provision of section
38 or section 39 of the Arns Export Control Act (22 U S.C 2778 and
2779), or any undertaking specifically required by part 124 of this
subchapter . . . shall upon conviction be subject to a fine or

i mprisonnent, or both, as prescribed by 22 U S. C 2778(c).”

618 U.S.C. § 2 provides:

“(a) Whoever conmmits an of fense against the United States or aids,
abets, counsels, comands, induces or procures its comm ssion, i

puni shabl e as a princi pal

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly
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before a United States Magi strate Judge, Castro-Trevino entered a
plea of guilty to the offense alleged in the indictnent. There
was no plea agreenent. The magi strate judge then issued his
Report and Reconmmendation that the district court accept the
guilty plea.

On May 24, 2005, the district court in open court adopted
the Report and Recommendati on, accepted the guilty plea and found
Castro-Trevino guilty of the offense charged in the indictnent,
counsel for the governnent and for appellant each stating they
had no objection and appel |l ant personally stating there was no
reason his plea should not be accepted. The PSR, as to which
counsel for each party stated there were no objections,
determned that, under U S. S.G § 2M.2(a)(1), Castro-Trevino's
base offence | evel was twenty-six, but three |evels were deducted
due to Castro-Trevino' s acceptance of responsibility. Therefore,
conbined with his category | crimnal history, the applicable
gui del i ne range was between forty-six and fifty-seven nonths.
Castro-Trevino filed an unopposed notion for a downward departure
based upon U. S.S.G § 2M. 2, comment (n.1l), which allows a
downwar d departure when the offense is determned to be not
harnful, or without the potential to be harnful, to a security or

foreign policy interest of the United States.

performed by himor another would be an offense against the United
States, is punishable as a principal.”
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The district court denied the notion for dowward departure
for three primary reasons: Castro-Trevino had his children with
himat the tine he was apprehended; Castro-Trevino had admtted
in open court to previously engaging in the sane crim nal
activity, albeit without the know edge of |aw enforcenent
officials; and it was a very dangerous act.’ The district court
then sentenced Castro-Trevino to forty-six nonths’ inprisonnent
and three years of supervised rel ease.?®

Castro-Trevino tinely appeal ed, contending that there was an
insufficient factual basis for his guilty plea in violation of
Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 11(b)(3), in that the evidence
shows only an attenpt to export, not a conpleted exportation as
charged in the indictnent.

Di scussi on

A. Standard of Review
Quilty pleas are reviewed for conpliance with Rule 11
United States v. Reasor, 418 F.3d 466, 470 (5th Cr. 2005);

United States v. Marek, 238 F.3d 310, 314 (5th Cr. 2001) (en

To describe the dangerous nature of the act to which Castro-Trevino
pl eaded guilty, the sentencing court noted:

“I't may be true that this wasn't harnful to the security interest of

the United States, but it’'s not a mandatory downward departure on

the court. | choose not to do it. | think this is a very dangerous

act. It's the second tine he's done it. Taking 11,000 rounds of
ammunition into a situation in Mexico here on the border where it’s
already . . . a dangerous situation . . . with rival gangs harm ng

each other and innocent people, and so I'mnot granting it.”

8No fine was inposed, and on the governnent’s notion the $100 speci al
assessnent was remtted.



banc). Rule 11(b)(3) requires that “[b]efore entering judgnment
on a guilty plea, the court nust determne that there is a
factual basis for the plea.” The Suprene Court in MCarthy v.
United States expl ai ned:

“Requiring this exam nation of the relation between the

| aw and the acts the defendant admts having commtted

is designed to ‘protect a defendant who is in the

position of pleading voluntarily with an understandi ng

of the nature of the charge but w thout realizing that

hi s conduct does not actually fall within the charge.’”

89 S.C. 1166, 1171 (1969) (quoting Fed. R CrimP. 11

Not es of Advisory Commttee on Crimnal Rules).
The factual basis for the guilty plea “nust appear in the record

and nust be sufficiently specific to allow the court to
determ ne that the defendant’s conduct was within the anbit of
that defined as crimnal.” United States v. Oberski, 734 F.2d
1030, 1031 (5th Gr. 1984). Historically, any failure in Rule 11
procedures surrounding a guilty plea was considered to be
irreparable error warranting automatic reversal.® |n 1983,
however, Rule 11(h)? was pronul gated, and the Suprene Court has
since shown reluctance to overturn pleas unless prejudice can be

shown on the record as a whole. See United States v. Vonn, 122

S.Ct 1043, 1054-55 (2002); United States v. Dom nguez Benitez,

® See McCarthy, 89 S.Ct at 1174; United States v. Johnson, 1 F.3d 296, 297
(5th Gr. 1993)

YFep, R.CRIM P. 11(h) provides: “A variance fromthe requirenents of this
rule is harmess error if it does not affect substantial rights.”
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124 S. Ct. 2333, 2339 (2004). Cf. United States v. Timreck, 99
S.Ct 2085, 2087-88 (1979) (challenge under 28 U S.C. § 2255).
Because Castro-Trevino objects to the Rule 11 error for the
first tinme on appeal, this court nust review for plain error
only. Vonn, 122 S.C at 1046; Marek, 238 F.3d at 315. Under
plain error review, Castro-Trevino bears the burden to show that
(1) there is an error; (2) the error is clear and obvious; and
(3) the error affects his substantial rights. Marek, 238 F.3d at
315. The relief for error is tied to a prejudicial effect, so
the error nmust have had a “‘substantial and injurious effect or
influence in determning the . . . verdict.’” Dom nguez Benitez,
124 S.Ct. at 2335 (citing Kotteakos v. United States,66 S. Ct
1239, 1253 (1946)); FED.R CRM P. 52(b). Further, even if Castro-
Trevino establishes clear error, we will not vacate the judgnment
unless the error “seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or
public reputation of judicial proceedings.” Marek, 238 F.3d at
315; see also United States v. O ano, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 1778-79
(1993). To show prejudices Castro-Trevino “nust show a
reasonabl e probability that, but for the error, he would not have

entered the plea.” Dom nguez Benitez, 124 S.Ct. at 2336.%

1The Court in Dom nguez Benitez described the reasons supporting these
requi renents as foll ows:
“First, the standard shoul d enforce the policies that underpin Rule
52(b) generally, to encourage tinely objections and reduce wast ef ul
reversals by demanding strenuous exertion to get relief for
unpreserved error. Second, it should respect the particular
i mportance of the finality of guilty pleas, which usually rest,
after all, on a defendant's profession of guilt in open court, and
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Because both parties agree that the record | acks a factual
basis for Castro-Trevino's guilty plea, the first two prongs of
the plain error review are satisfied. |In short, contrary to the
charge in the indictnent to which Castro-Trevi no pl eaded
guilty,! the facts are that he attenpted to export a defense
article fromthe United States to Mexico but did not succeed in
doi ng so; there was no evidence he actually exported!®® or aided
and abetted anyone who did so. However, the issue remains
whet her Castro-Trevino' s substantial rights were adversely
af f ect ed.

The governnent contends that Castro-Trevino' s substanti al
rights were not affected and he woul d have entered his plea
notw t hstanding the Rule 11 error of which he now conpl ai ns.

B. Attenpted Exportation
Wiile “[t]o attenpt a federal offense is not, of itself, a

federal crine,” and there is no one general federal statute

are indispensable in the operation of the nodern crimnal justice
system And . . . these reasons are conplenented by the fact, worth
repeating, that the violation clainmed was of Rule 11, not of due
process.” Donminguez Benitez, 124 S. . at 2340 (internal citations
omtted).

12 See supra note 1.

BThe record refl ects that Castro-Trevino never left the United States with
hi s i ntended exports. Wen a word i s not specifically defined within a statute,
that term “nust therefore be given [its] ordinary and natural nmeaning. .o
[and] ‘[d]ictionaries are a principal source for ascertaining the ordinary
neani ng of statutory | anguage.’” United States v. Elrawy, 448 F.3d 309, 312 (5th
Cr. 2006) (quoting United States v. Oellana, 405 F.3d 360, 365-66 (5th
Cr.2005)). Consequently, “Export” is defined as “To carry or send abroad.”
Black’s Law Dictionary 579 (6th ed. 1990). “Abroad” is defined as “In a foreign
country or countries.” The Anerican Heritage College Dictionary 4 (3d ed. 1997).
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proscribing all attenpts to commt federal offenses, see United
States v. York, 578 F.2d 1036, 1038 (5th Gr. 1978), it is
neverthel ess clear that attenpted exportation without a |icense
of a defense article on United States Munitions List constitutes
a federal crine, nanely a violation of 22 U S.C. § 2778(c).
Section 2778(c) provides that “[a]ny person who willfully
vi ol ates any provision of this section or section 2779 of this
title, or any rule or regulation issued under either section
shal | upon conviction be fined for each violation . . . or
i nprisoned not nore than ten years, or both” (enphasis added),
and 22 CF. R § 127.1(a)(1), a regulation issued under 22 U S. C
§ 2778, provides (and at all relevant tines provided) that “It is

unlawful : (1) To export or attenpt to export fromthe United

States any defense article . . . for which a license or witten
approval is required . . . without first obtaining the required
license or witten approval . . .” (enphasis added). |ndeed, we

have on at |east two occasions affirmed convictions of violating
section 2778 by attenpted exportation of defense articles on the
United States Munitions List without a license. United States v.
Covarrubias, 94 F.3d 172 (5th Cr. 1996); United States v. Otiz-
Loya, 777 F.2d 973, 978, 980 (5th G r. 1985).

Since such attenpted exportation contrary to section 2778 is
a federal crine, it is obvious that it is a |esser included

of fense of actual exportation contrary to section 2778. The
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el enents are the sane except that the latter offense requires
that the defense articles actually leave the United States.* In
order to wllfully export amunition in violation of section 2778
one nust also attenpt to do so; one nust willfully attenpt to
cause with the ammunition to cross the border before succeeding
in doing so. Accordingly, under a charge of exportation contrary
to section 2778 a defendant may properly be found guilty of
attenpting to export contrary to section 2778 under the

provi sions of Rule 31(c) even though attenpt is not alleged in
the indictnent.®® “Under FED. R CRM P. 31(c) a defendant may be
found guilty of an attenpt to commt a substantive offense,

whet her or not the attenpt was charged in the indictnent,
provided an attenpt is punishable.” United States v. Marin, 513
F.2d 974, 976 (2d Cr. 1975). See also, e.g., United States v.
Brozyna, 571 F.2d 742, 746 (2d Gr. 1978) (conviction on

i ndi ctment all eging acquisition, though proof showed only
attenpted acqui sition, does not violate defendant’s “right to be

tried only on charges presented in an indictnent” because “Rul e

4See Covarrubias at 175: “To sustain a conviction under 22 U.S.C. 8§ 2778,
t he governnent nust prove beyond a reasonabl e doubt that the defendant willfully
exported or attenpted to export defense articles that are on the United States
Muni tions List without a |license.”

BRul e 31(c) provides:
“(c) Lesser Ofense or Attenpt. A defendant may be found guilty of
any of the follow ng:
(1) an offense necessarily included in the offense charged;
(2) an attenpt to commit the offense charged; or
(3) an attenpt to conmt an offense necessarily included in
the of fense charged, if the attenpt is an offense in its own right.”
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31(c) . . . permts a conviction for attenpt even when the

i ndi ctment charges only the conpleted act”); United States v.
Pino, 608 F.2d 1001, 1003 (4th Gr. 1979) (indictnment charging
distribution of heroin would support conviction “on an attenpt
theory”); United States v. Remgio, 767 F.2d 730, 733 (10th GCr.
1985) (“The crine of attenpt is a |lesser included offense of the
substantive of fense” and “proof of the substantive crine at trial
was proof of the | esser included offense of attenpt”); United
States v. Gaskin, 364 F.3d 438, 453 (2d Cr. 2004); 2 LAFAVE,
SUBSTANTI VE CRIM NAL LAwW (2ND ED) 8 11.3(c), at 249 (“The courts are
in general agreenent that an attenpt conviction nmay be had on a
charge of the conpleted crine . . . .”). W also have so
recogni zed. See United States v. York, 578 F.2d 1036, 1040 (5th
Cr. 1978) (“attenpt is an offense included in the conpleted
crime”). Wen the facts support conviction of a | esser-included
of fense we can generally nodify the judgnent to reflect the

| esser offense without detrinentally affecting the defendant’s

rights. 1

For exanpl e, in Brozyna the defendant was found guilty by the jury on an
i ndi ctment charging that she used false identification in “the acquisition of a
firearm” but the evidence showed she never acquired the firearm but only
attenpted to do so. She noved for judgnment of acquittal on this basis. The
indictment did not allege attenpt and the district court did not instruct the
jury on attenpt. The court reserved decision on the nmotion until the jury
returned its verdict, after which the notion was granted. On the governnent’s
appeal, the Second Circuit reversed and ordered that judgnent of guilty be
entered in accordance with the verdict. The Court of Appeals noted that even if
the statute, in denouncing the use of false identification in “the acquisition
or attenpted acquisition” of a firearm “creates separate offenses, under Rule
31 this defense [that the firearmhad not actually been acquired] coul d not have
prevented a conviction for using false identification in connection with an
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C. Angel es- Mascot e and Dom nguez Benitez

Both parties call our attention to United States v. Angel es-
Mascote, 206 F.3d 529 (5th Cr. 2000). |In Angel es-Mascote, the
def endant was charged with know ngly entering and being found in
the United States after deportation, contrary to 8 U S.C. § 1326.
The defendant pleaded guilty to that charge but argued on appeal
the Rule 11 evidence showed that he only attenpted entry, and
could not have been “found in” the United States since he never
actually entered. I1d. at 531. Under plain error review, this
court vacated the guilty plea because the evidence was

insufficient to show that the defendant had actually entered:

“The appropriate indictnment . . . would have been to
charge [defendant] with attenpting to enter the United
States after previously being deported . . . there is a

clear distinction between actual entry into the United
States, and attenpted entry. [citation] That distinction
being that ‘actual entry’ has been found by nost courts
to require both physical presence in the country as well

attenpted acquisition. That offense woul d be subject to the sane penalty.
Id. at 746.

See 28 U S.C. 8§ 2106 (providing: "The Supreme Court or any other court of
appel late jurisdiction may affirm nodify, vacate, set aside or reverse any
judgnent, decree, or order of a court lawfully brought before it for review and
may renmand the cause and direct the entry of such appropriate judgnent, decree,
or order, or require such further proceedings to be had as may be just under the
circunstances."); United States v. Hunt, 129 F.3d 739, 744-46 (5th Cr. 1997);
United States v. Bailey, 691 F.2d 1009, 1019 (11th Cr. 1982) ("Both parties in
their respective briefs acknow edge that [defendant] was only convicted of the
| esser included offense of sinple possession of cocaine on count two. The
Judgnent Order reads, ‘Defendant has been convicted as charged of the of fense(s)
of ... possessing with intent to distribute a Schedule Il controlled substance
(sic). . . .'" This is plain error of which this court may take cogni zance. On
remand, the district court is instructed to reformthe Judgment Order to record
accurately the offenses for which [defendant] was convicted.") (internal
citations ontted).
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as freedom from official restraint, while ‘attenpted
entry’ only requires that the person approach a port of
entry and nmake a false claim of citizenship or non-
resident alien status.” Id.
This court held that the governnent’s failure to charge the
correct offense in the indictnment could not be harml ess since
“[al]n indictnment is intended to provide notice to the defendant
that allows himto intelligently consider his defense or plea.”
ld. at 532. This court also found “unpersuasive” the
governnent’s argunent that “even if the factual basis is
insufficient none of [the defendant’s] substantial rights were
af fected because a charge of attenpted entry provides for the
sane statutory maxi num sentence as a charge of actual entry.” Id.
It is not clear that the Angel es-Mascote panel regarded
“attenpted entry” as a | esser included offense of the charged
section 1326 offense, as the panel apparently viewed the
attenpted entry offense as requiring the making of “a false claim
of citizenship or non-resident alien status.” Id. at 531. In
any event, Angel es-Mascote was deci ded w thout the benefit of the
Suprene Court’s decisions in Vonn! and Donm nguez Benitez, ' and

necessarily must be construed in |ight of those cases. |ndeed,

the Suprenme Court in Dom nguez Benitez stresses:

Vonn, 122 S. & at 1046 (holding that “a silent defendant has the burden
to satisfy the plain-error rule and that a revi ewi ng court may consult the whol e
record when considering the effect of any error on substantial rights.”)

Dom nguez Benitez, 124 S. . at 2336 (holding that "a defendant is
obliged to show a reasonabl e probability that, but for the error, he would not
have entered the [guilty] plea.”)

14



“[T]he point . . . is not to second-guess a defendant’s
actual decision [to plead guilty]; if it is reasonably
probabl e he woul d have gone to trial absent the error,
it is no matter that the choice nmay have been foolish.
The point, rather, is to enquire whether the omtted
[Rule 11 procedure] would have nade the difference
required by the standard of reasonable probability.”
Dom nguez Benitez, 124 S.Ct. at 2341.

Dom nguez Benitez holds further:
“[ Al defendant who seeks reversal of his conviction after
a guilty plea, on the ground that the district court
commtted plain error under Rule 11, nust show a
reasonabl e probability that, but for the error, he would
not have entered the plea. A defendant nmust thus satisfy
the judgnent of the reviewing court, infornmed by the
entire record, that the probability of a different result
is ‘“sufficient to underm ne confidence in the outcone’ of
the proceeding.” 1d. at 2340 (internal «citations
omtted).
Dom nguez Benitez necessarily nodifies our reasoning in Angel es-
Mascote by increasing the burden for defendants in situations
simlar to Castro-Trevino’s. As such, Castro-Trevino nust
denonstrate both that his substantial rights were adversely
af fected and that he would not have entered his guilty plea but
for the error.

D. Conviction of Lesser-Included Ofense Does Not Affect Castro-
Trevino's Substantial R ghts

As noted, a conviction for an attenpt to commt the
conpl eted of fense charged (or a conviction for sonme other |esser
i ncl uded of fense of that charged), may properly be based on an
i ndi ctment which alleges only the conpl eted of fense and does not

mention attenpt (or other |esser included offense of that
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charged). As stated in United States v. Thonpson, 680 F.2d 1145,
1155 (7th Cr. 1982):

“The purpose of requiring a factual basis for a plea as
now stated in Rule 11(f) and as included in the 1966
amendnent to the Rules is to assure the court that the
conduct which the defendant admts by his plea of
guilty constitutes the offense charged in the
indictnment or a | esser offense included therein.”

Here, during the Rearraignnent, the Rule 11 hearing transcript
describes the foll ow ng exchange, with appellant (a coll ege
graduat e engi neer) under oath (under penalty of perjury):

U S Attorney: “The facts woul d show, Your Honor, that on
Decenber 15th, 2004, Custons and Border Protection
of ficers observed the Defendant purchase a | arge anount
of assorted ammunition at a \al-Mrt store in
Brownsvill e, Texas. Agents conducted surveillance as the
Def endant attenpted to export the ammunition out of the
United States to Mexico through the Gateway port of
entry, Brownsville, Texas. Further inspection fo the
Defendant’s car revealed three WAl-Mart bags hidden
underneath a bl anket that contained a total of 11,500
rounds of assorted ammunition. The ammunition is an
article that is listed on the United States nunitions
list. The Defendant attenpted to export the anmunition
W thout obtaining a |icense. The Defendant acted
willfully in exporting the amrunition. The Def endant
stated that he knew it was illegal to export the
ammuni ti on because he had seen the sign at the bridge
where it said that it’'s illegal to cross firearns and
ammuni tion to Mexico.”

The Court: “ls that what happened, sir?”

Castro-Trevino: “Yes, sir.

The Court: “I’m going to recomend that your plea be
accepted.” (enphasis added).

Plainly, the Rule 11 hearing reflects appellant’s guilt of

the of fense of attenpted exportation contrary to section 2778(c).
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E. Failure to Allege 22 CF.R § 127.1

Castro-Trevino contends that because 22 CF. R § 127.1 was
omtted fromthe indictnment it cannot be used to show t hat
attenpt to export is a |lesser-included offense and renders the
i ndictment deficient to support a conviction on that basis.
However, we conclude that the fact that 22 CF. R § 127.1 was not
cited in the indictnent as one of the regulations viol ated by
Castro-Trevino's conduct is not a sufficient cause for us to
vacate his guilty plea. Rule 7(c)(3) of the Federal Rules of
Crim nal Procedure provides:

“Unl ess the defendant was m sl ed and t hereby

prejudi ced, neither an error in a citation nor a

citation’s omssion is a ground to dismss the

indictment or information or to reverse a conviction.”
See, e.g., United States v. Boyett, 923 F.2d 378, 378-79 n. 1
(5th Gr. 1990) (conviction not reversed where indictnent cited
incorrect statute, because "[t]he error was not one that could
have reasonably m sled the defendant to his prejudice"); Schm dt
v. United States, 286 F.2d 11, 12 (5th Gr. 1961) (finding that
j udgnent could not be vacated sinply because the indictnment
referred to the wong subsection of the offense statute where
“[a] ppel |l ant was represented by counsel and the indictnent

adequately and positively alleged facts constituting a crine

under the offense statute.... Under these circunstances it is
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hi ghly doubtful that [defendant] was misled at all.”).! Castro-
Trevino nakes no allegations that he was msled to his prejudice
inthis respect nor is any such prejudice apparent. Consequently,
om ssion of the regulatory provision’s citation by itself is not
a sufficient basis on which to vacate Castro-Trevino's guilty

pl ea.

F. Sentencing Considerations did not Violate Castro-
Trevino's Substantial R ghts

Castro-Trevino al so argues that his substantial rights were
adversely affected because had the charge read “attenpted
exportation” he would have been eligible for a | ower sentence.
We concl ude, however, that there was no potential effect on
sentencing. The sane statutory range is applicable. Section
2778(c). See note 2 supra. He asserts that he may have been
eligible for a three-level reduction under U S. S.G § 2X1.1,
entitled “Attenpt, Solicitation, or Conspiracy (Not Covered by a
Specific Ofense CGuideline)”, because it was only an attenpt to

carry out the prohibited behavior. However, the governnent

This court has also stated that “[p]ractical rather than technical
consi derations govern resolution of [indictment] challenges and we will not
reverse for mnor deficiencies which do not prejudice the accused."” United States
v. Steen, 55 F.3d 1022, 1027 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing United States v. Chappell,
6 F.3d 1095, 1099 (5th Cir. 1993) ("An indictnent need only charge the essentlal
el enents of the offense, permtting the accused to prepare a defense . ").
See also United States v. Nevers, 7 F.3d 59, 63 (5th Gr.1993) (indi ctrrent
sufficient if it "describe[s] the specifi ¢ facts and circunstances surroundi ng
the offense in question in such manner as to inform the defendant of the
particul ar offense charged"); United States v. Shelton, 937 F.2d 140, 142 (5th
Cr. 1991) ("An indictnment is sufficient if it contains the elenments of the
of fense charged [and] fairly informs the defendant what charge he nust be
prepared to neet 7).
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argues that U S. S .G 8§ 2X1.1(b)(1) does not, and would not, apply
to Castro-Trevino's case for two distinct reasons: (a) this
provision only applies to attenpts which are not included within
the of fense guideline; and (b) attenpts do not warrant a
three-1evel reduction when "defendant was about to conplete al
such acts but for apprehension or interruption by sone simlar
event beyond the defendant's control."” U S S.G 8§ 2X1.1(b)(1).
First, the governnent contends that 8§ 2Mb. 2 i ncl udes
attenpts to commt a violation of 22 U S.C. 82778(c) since it
covers the entire offense, which by its terns includes all the
regul ations issued thereunder. As discussed supra, 22 CF.R §
127.1(a) (1), issued under 22 U S.C. § 2778(a), provides: "It is
unlawful to export or attenpt to export fromthe United States
any defense article . . . for which a license or witten approval
is required . ." Therefore, it is contended, 8§ 2X1.1 does
not apply to this offense because the attenpt is already included
within the anbit of 8 2Mb.2 since it is, by way of 22 C F.R
8127.1, a primary violation of the statute dealt with by § 2Mb. 2.
We need not resolve this contention, because we agree with the
governnent’s second contention, nanely that the sole reason
Castro-Trevino was not able to export the anmmunition was due to
hi s apprehension by | CE agents at the border. His voluntary
confession did not cause his apprehension or interruption of the

event because | CE agents had been nonitoring his purchases that
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day. Thus, under 8§ 2X1.1(b)(1) the three level reduction is not
avai | abl e.

Additionally, contrary to Castro-Trevino' s assertions,
US S G 8 2X1.1(b)(2) does not apply because the indictnment does
not all ege conspiracy and conspiracy is not a | esser-included
of fense of the offense charged. 2

Finally, Castro-Trevino received the |owest sentence within
t he applicabl e guideline range and the statutory range remains
the sanme. There is no indication here that Castro-Trevino was
prejudi ced by receiving a |l onger sentence than he woul d have had
the charge expressly and only been for attenpted exportation or
that he was denied any real opportunity to receive a shorter
sent ence.

Concl usi on

Castro-Trevino has failed to denonstrate that but for the
Rule 11 error, he would not have entered his guilty plea, as
requi red by Dom nguez Benitez. The sane statutory and guideline
sentenci ng range applied. There is no indication he wuld have
recei ved a reduced sentence, the indictnent gave sufficient
notice as to the charges pending against him and the factual

record accepted by both parties and relied upon by both the

20See 18 U.S.C. § 371. Conspiracy to commit the act prohibited by section
2778 requires the additional elenment of agreenent between “two or nore persons”
whereas 22 U. S. C. 82778 applies to “any person.” “[A] conspiracy conviction nmay
not be obtai ned on a charge of the conpleted crine.” 2 LAFAVE, SUBSTANTI VE CRI M NAL
Law(2ND ED) 8 12.4(d) at 322; Bravernman v. United States, 63 S.Ct. 99 (1942).
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district court and the magistrate judge indicated the full nature
of his offense. In short, after reviewing the record and Castro-
Trevino's argunents, we are not satisfied that “the probability
of a different result is ‘sufficient to underm ne confidence in
the outconme’ of the proceeding.” Dom nguez Benitez, 124 S.Ct. at
2340. Qur confidence in the proceeding’ s outcone is sinply not
underm ned here. Castro-Trevino has admtted under oath that he
attenpted to export ammunition in violation of the |aw,
voluntarily pleaded guilty to that prohibited behavior, and had
every opportunity in the court belowto raise the points he
brings up for the first tinme on appeal.

Consequently, this court nodifies the judgnent in accordance
wth this opinion to reflect conviction for attenpted exportation
of ammunition rather than the conpleted offense, and affirns the
j udgnent as so nodified.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgnent of the district
court is

AFFI RVED

as nodi fi ed.

21



